**RECEIVED**

**Mar 24 2021**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Chester County

Brian M. Gibbons, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DARRYL QUAN TRAVIS DAMOND WILSON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2019-001551

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

SUSAN B. HACKETT  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

**STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

Did the trial judge err by admitting an irrelevant recordings of telephone calls purportedly made by Appellant while he was a pre-trial detainee where the state argued the relevance of the recordings was that they showed a lack of remorse?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 5, 2018, a Chester County grand jury indicted Appellant for homicide by child abuse (2018-GS-12-314). R. 480. The state, represented by Candice Lively and Kaitlyn Easler, called the case to trial before the Honorable Brian M. Gibbons and a jury on September 3-6, 2019. R. 1. Jim Boyd represented Appellant. R. 1. Ultimately, the jury found Appellant guilty as charged. R. 476, ll. 19-23. Judge Gibbons sentenced Appellant to forty years imprisonment. R. 477, ll. 11-17; R. 478-479.

On September 9, 2019, Appellant served his notice of appeal. This brief follows.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

“In general, the admission or exclusion of evidence is a matter left to the sound discretion of the trial court, whose ruling will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of that discretion.” In the Matter of Campbell, 427 S.C. 183, 190, 830 S.E.2d 14, 18 (2019). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court’s ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support.” Id. at 191 830 S.E.2d at 18 (quoting Clark v. Cantrell, 339 S.C. 369, 389, 529 S.E.2d 528, 539 (2000)). “To warrant reversal based on the admission or exclusion of evidence, the appellant must prove both the error of the ruling and the resulting prejudice, i.e., that there is a reasonable probability the jury’s verdict was influenced by the challenged evidence or the lack thereof.” Id. (quoting State v. Commander, 396 S.C. 254, 263, 721 S.E.2d 413, 418 (2011)).

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Tornita Adams was the mother of Minor. R. 142, ll. 23-25. Appellant was Minor's father. R. 143, ll. 8-9. Adams had three older boys by Charles Mobley. R. 143, ll. 1-20. After Minor's birth, Adams and Appellant were no longer romantically involved. R. 144, l. 19 – R. 145, l. 2. Nevertheless, Minor frequently visited with Appellant even after he moved in with his new girlfriend, Ekeria Foote. R. 145, ll. 3-10; R. 149, ll. 3-9. Adams never worried about Minor when she was in Appellant's care. R. 146, ll. 6-11; R. 152, ll. 17-20. Minor "was happy to see her daddy." R. 149, ll. 21-24.

Although Adams claimed that the only physical discipline she, her grandmother, and aunt, who lived in the house with her, used with her children was a "pop on the hand," the Department of Social Services (DSS) determined all three women physically abused the children. R. 152, ll. 3-12; R. 161, ll. 17-20. In fact, DSS removed the three boys from Adams' custody for seven months. R. 161, l. 25 – R. 162, l. 1.

On October 28, 2017, between 10:30 p.m. and 11:00 p.m., Adams took Minor to Appellant's home so that she could spend Halloween with him. R. 155, ll. 13-19; R. 156, ll. 14-15. When Minor arrived, she had a burn mark on her leg. R. 162, ll. 16-18; see also R. 297, ll. 16-24. According to Adams, as Minor ran by the hot iron, which was sitting on the floor in the living room, "it hit her leg." R. 162, ll. 19-24. Additionally, Adams explained that marks on Minor's legs were from mosquito bites, marks on her arm and face were from playing outside, a scar on the left side of her face from playing with her brothers, and a scar on her shoulder from an unknown source. R. 167, ll. 1-22; see also R. 291, ll. 5-22; R. 297, ll. 20-21. Foote noticed some bruises on Minor's legs as well. R. 188, ll. 2-5.

On Monday evening, Appellant's mother, Anissa Gordon, arrived. R. 195, ll. 20-25; R. 280, ll. 1-10. Gordon had a Halloween costume for Minor. R. 196, ll. 2-6; R. 285, ll. 3-4. Foote noticed that although Minor ate normally and played with her daughter normally, she "could tell like she wasn't herself." R. 197, ll. 4-8; see also R. 281, ll. 21-24 (Minor ate half of a hot dog). She was not "happy, just jumping around, ... running through the house." R. 197, ll. 9-11.

The following day, Foote got up at 2:30 a.m. in order to go to work. R. 198, ll. 6-17. When there was no work to do, Foote left at 8:49 a.m. R. 199, ll. 1-14; R. 202, ll. 22-25. Foote arrived home around 9:15 a.m. R. 199, ll. 17-22; R. 203, ll. 1-12. Appellant and Minor were still in bed. R. 203, ll. 13-16. Shortly after arriving home, Foote fell asleep too. R. 205, ll. 3-9. She awoke around 2 p.m. R. 205, ll. 10-12. Foote began doing Minor's hand and noticed Minor was not acting normally. R. 206, ll. 1-6. Thereafter, Foote took her daughter, her nephew, and Minor to Wal-Mart to buy a costume for her daughter. R. 209, l. 19 – R. 210, l. 3. Minor was sleepy while they were in Wal-Mart. R. 214, l. 13 – R. 215, l. 25.

At home, Appellant dressed Minor in her costume for trick-or-treating. R. 216, ll. 5-9. After trick-or-treating, Foote initially took Minor and her daughter to Pizza Hut. R. 217, l. 21 – R. 218, l. 2. However, Minor was sleepy, so Foote took her home to Appellant. R. 217, l. 21 – R. 218, l. 2. Foote and her daughter returned to Pizza Hut while Minor stayed home with Appellant. R. 217, l. 21 – R. 218, l. 5. Later in the evening, Foote arrived home with leftover pizza, but Minor refused to eat. R. 218, ll. 13-17. Instead, Minor threw up two more times. R. 218, ll. 18-24.

Later, Foote took her daughter, her nephew, and Minor to Wendy's, and then took the children and food to her sister's house. R. 207, ll. 17-23. Foote thought Minor may have eaten a French fry, but she did not eat much more than that. R. 207, l. 22 – R. 208, l. 5. Minor then

threw up. R. 208, ll. 2-5. Foote described the vomit as green liquid without any food in it. R. 208, ll. 6-20.

Foote got up at 2:30 a.m. the next day to go to work. R. 223, ll. 14-17. Around Foote looked into the bedroom where Minor was, she saw Minor sitting up in bed. R. 224, ll. 1-7. Foote told Minor to lie back down, which Minor did with a smile. R. 224, ll. 11-16. Foote then left for work.

On November 1, 2017, at 8:24 a.m., Appellant called 911 because Minor was not responding to him as he tried to wake her. R. 36, ll. 11-15. When emergency medical personnel arrived four minutes later, Minor was not breathing and had no pulse. R. 40, ll. 17-18; r. 41, ll. 12-14. She was “kind of warm on the core and cool on the extremities.” R. 41, ll. 15-18. The paramedic believed “she had passed away for a while.” R. 42, ll. 6-7. Appellant explained that Minor had vomited, which was confirmed by vomit present on her chest, and that Appellant had tried to resuscitate Minor. R. 42, ll. 16-22. After trying unsuccessfully to revive Minor, the responders took Minor to the hospital. R. 44, ll. 1-5. Despite the efforts of the medical staff, Minor was pronounced dead at 8:54 a.m. R. 63, ll. 17-22.

According to the hospital staff, Appellant indicated he checked on Minor at 2:30 a.m. and she was sleeping. R. 55, ll. 16-17. The ER nurse who helped the coroner place Minor’s body in a body bag claimed she could “put [her] hand on her abdomen and [her] hand would fit above, like handprints were on her lower abdomen bruising.” R. 56, ll. 10-12. Although the nurse saw no marks on Minor’s face, the ER doctor’s notes indicated Minor had bruising on the right upper quadrant of her abdomen as well as an abrasion on her mid-forehead and nose. R. 62, ll. 10-24.

The state’s pathologist determined that Minor died as a result of blunt trauma to her abdomen, which the pathologist opined was inflicted. R. 99, ll. 6-17. He determined “[t]he

amount of force necessary to create these injuries [was] coming with an extreme disregard for the safety and wellbeing of the person.” R. 111, ll. 10-14. He indicated there was “no way to be certain” regarding the number of blows inflicted: “it could be one impact, it could be multiple.” R. 111, ll. 20-21. Based upon his observations of the healing processes of her internal organs, the pathologist opined the trauma occurred within two to three days of her death. R. 112, ll. 2-14; R. 122, ll. 9-23. Thus, it was his opinion that the injury occurred between Sunday, October 29, 2017, and the early morning hours of November 1, 2017. R. 126, ll. 8-13. According to the pathologist, “normal reactions” to these injuries would be “pain and probably vomiting.” R. 129, ll. 1-4.

The state’s expert in pediatrics concurred that Minor died from blunt force trauma to her abdomen. R. 246, ll. 2-9. According to the pediatrics expert, a child may survive injuries from blunt force trauma if intervention is sought early enough. R. 246, ll. 13-23. She opined that a person would develop symptoms quickly after suffering blunt force trauma to the abdomen. R. 247, ll. 16-20. She indicated that the onset of symptoms would occur within “maybe a minute, a couple of minutes, maybe hour or so.” R. 247, ll. 20-22. These symptoms include pain in the abdomen, not eating, not drinking, vomiting, lethargy, and even unconsciousness. R.247, l. 25 – R. 248, l. 15. The pediatrics expert claimed she saw round bruises on Minor that were caused by adult fingertips or knuckles. R. 251, ll. 14-21. Further, she opined that Minor was injured prior to her trip to Wal-Mart. R. 261, l. 25 – R. 262, l. 9. She claimed that Minor “wouldn’t be her normal self immediately after that injury.” R. 262, ll. 19-24. Recognizing the pediatrics expert’s testimony conflicted with the pathologist’s opinion, the state had the pediatrician relate why she could “give a more clear timeline”: “So generally when you’re looking at microscopes or organs

or as such it's a wider window than what [the pediatrician] can get to based on history." R. 263, ll. 4-12.

In light of Minor vomiting on Halloween, the pediatrician said it was clear Minor was injured at that point. R. 265, ll. 11-13. The pediatrics expert claimed Minor was not injured as of Monday evening because she was able to eat dinner. R. 266, ll. 5-11. Finally, the pediatrician opined that Minor's injuries had to cause Minor's injuries because the "pattern bruises on her chest and abdomen" were caused by "adult sized fingertips and knuckles." R. 267, ll. 14-22. However, she was unable to determine how many blows caused the fatal injury or that the pattern bruises were related to the fatal injury. R. 270, l. 23 – R. 271, l. 3.

Dr. John David Wren, an expert in pathology, conducted a review of the records and determined Minor suffered two assaults. R. 383, ll. 15-17. He explained how Minor had old and new scar tissue coupled with the growth of new capillaries. R. 383, ll. 17-19; R. 384, ll. 2-6. Dr. Wren opined the initial assault occurred three to eight days prior to her death. R. 384, ll. 19-23. He explained that when Minor stopped eating and began vomiting bile was after she suffered the second injury. R. 385, ll. 8-15. He opined this second injury occurred "up to three days" before her death. R. 387, ll. 23-24. In other words, Dr. Wren's examination showed Minor suffered the second blow "very close to the time [Appellant] received her." R. 387, ll. 24-25.

## ARGUMENT

The trial judge erred by admitting two irrelevant recordings of telephone calls purportedly made by Appellant while he was a pre-trial detainee where the state argued the relevance of the recordings was that they showed a lack of remorse.

### **Relevant facts**

Prior to trial, defense counsel moved to exclude a recording of a telephone call made purportedly made by Appellant while he was a pretrial detainee. R. 12, l. 7 – R. 13, l. 5; State’s Exhibit #50. In total, there were four calls. According to the solicitor, Appellant was talking about one of his sisters who was pregnant. R. 12, l. 24 – R. 13, l. 1. The sister “had to find out who the father was.” R. 13, ll. 1-2. During the call, Appellant referred to the fact that the mother of Minor was also unsure of the paternity of Minor. R. 13, ll. 2-5. As a result, Appellant took a paternity test that established he was the father of Minor. R. 13, ll. 2-5. In reference to the establishment of paternity, Appellant remarked, “Look where it got me.” R. 13, ll. 2-5.

Defense counsel objected, arguing the recording was not relevant. R. 13, ll. 7-9. The solicitor argued the recording was “extremely relevant” because it showed Appellant “lack[ed] remorse.” R. 13, l. 12 – R. 14, l. 1. The solicitor noted Appellant’s child had been dead for four months and Appellant was not expressing love for the child or sadness over her death. R. 13, l. 12 – R. 14, l. 1. When the judge asked the solicitor to explain the probative value of the recording, the solicitor began explaining it was “probative to show ... the lack of actual,” but the judge interrupted to supply the answer he wanted. R. 14, ll. 3-5. Specifically, the judge wanted the solicitor to argue it was relevant to show “[e]xtreme indifference” to human life. R. 14, l. 5. Readily agreeing with the judge, the solicitor continued to argue the recording showed Appellant “did not have a level of connection with this child to where he could control his anger whenever

this happened to this child, whenever the child didn't do something that he expected her to do.” R. 14, ll. 6-9. According to the solicitor, the call showed the “level of disconnection he had with this child and how he could harm her the way he did and wake up the next morning and just keep going.” R. 14, ll. 11-14. The judge overruled the objection and permitted the state to use the call. R. 14, ll. 15-16.

The state sought to use a second recording as well. During this recording, Appellant stated, “Lord, forgive me, I hate I was the daddy.” R. 14, ll. 21-22. The state put forward the “[s]ame argument” to support admission. R. 14, l. 22. Defense counsel argued the recording was not relevant to any matter in the case. R. 14, l. 25 – R. 15, l. 2. The judge overruled defense counsel’s objection. R. 15, ll. 304. The judge further indicated the he had “balanced the probative value versus the prejudicial effect under a 403 analysis and [found] it’s more probative than prejudicial.” R. 15, ll. 3-8.

Later, when the state introduced the recording of the phone call into evidence, defense counsel renewed his objection, which was overruled by the judge. R. 326, ll. 5-8. Will Thrasher with the special victim’s unit in the child fatalities department of SLED informed the jurors that Appellant “was discussing the paternity test that he took to prove that [Minor] was his child.” R. 300, ll. 4-10; R. 327, ll. 20-21. The solicitor prompted: And he’s basically saying he wishes he wouldn’t have taken it.” R. 327, ll. 22-23. Thrasher agreed with the solicitor’s prompt and added, “He said he wished he wouldn’t have taken it because ‘look what it got me.’” R. 327, ll. 24-25.

In her closing argument, the solicitor rhetorically asked if there were any holes in the state’s case. R. 443, ll. 21-22. She then apologized for not having “a video of him committing the crime” or having “a confession,” but she claimed the jury knew “he wish[ed] he wasn’t the

daddy, wished he wouldn't have taken the paternity test.” R. 443, ll. 23-25. Previously, the state told the jury that it was difficult to present all of the evidence to the jurors because “it took the state a minimum of four months to make an arrest in the case and make a determination that, yes, he killed his daughter.” R. 426, ll. 13-18.

## **Discussion**

Pursuant to the South Carolina Rules of Evidence, all relevant evidence is generally admissible. Rule 402, SCRE. “Evidence which is not relevant is not admissible.” Id. Even relevant evidence must be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. Rule 403, SCRE. A determination on the admissibility of relevant evidence requires consideration of the evidence’s probative value, the danger of unfair prejudice posed by the evidence, and the balancing of those two.

“‘Relevant evidence’ means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.” Rule 401, SCRE. “Under Rule 401, evidence is relevant if it has a direct bearing upon and tends to establish or make more or less probable the matter in controversy.” State v. Preslar, 364 S.C. 466, 476, 613 S.E.2d 381, 386 (Ct. App. 2005). “Evidence is relevant if it tends to establish or make more or less probable some matter in issue upon which it directly or indirectly bears, and it is not required that the inference sought should necessarily follow from the fact proved.” State v. Sweat, 362 S.C. 117, 126-127, 606 S.E.2d 508, 513 (Ct. App. 2004). When looking at Rule 403, SCRE, the starting point for analyzing evidence under Rule 403 is determining the probative value of the evidence offered. “‘Probative’ means ‘[t]ending to prove or disprove.’” State v. Gray, 408 S.C. 601, 609, 759 S.E.2d 160, 165 (Ct. App. 2014). “‘Probative value’ is the measure of the importance of that tendency to the outcome of a case.” Id. at 610, 759 S.E.2d at 165.

While relevant evidence and probative evidence are not synonymous, the two share many similarities as demonstrated through their definitions. The probative value of evidence is directly related to the how important that evidence is in assisting the jury in rendering a verdict. Id. Thus, when analyzing the probative value of evidence, the court must consider the importance of the evidence as it relates to the issues presented in the case. State v. Lee, 399 S.C. 521, 528, 732 S.E.2d 225, 228 (Ct. App. 2012).

After determining the probative value of the evidence, the court must next evaluate the danger of unfair prejudice presented by the evidence. “The determination of prejudice must be based on the entire record and the result will generally turn on the facts of each case.” State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 7, 545 S.E.2d 827, 830 (2001). “Unfair prejudice does not mean the damage to a defendant’s case that results from the legitimate probative force of the evidence; rather it refers to evidence which tends to suggest [a] decision on an improper basis.” State v. Gilchrist, 329 S.C. 621, 630, 496 S.E.2d 424, 429 (Ct. App. 1998) (quoting United States v. Bonds, 12 F.3d 540, 567 (6<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1993)). According to the United States Supreme Court, “[t]he term ‘unfair prejudice,’ as to a criminal defendant, speaks to the capacity of some concededly relevant evidence to lure the factfinder into declaring guilt on a ground different from proof specific to the offense charged.” Old Chief v. United States, 519 U.S. 172, 180 (1997). “Rule 403 only requires suppression of evidence that results in unfair prejudice – prejudice that damages an opponent for reasons other than its probative value, for instance, an appeal to emotion.” United States v. Mohr, 318 F.3d 613, 619-620 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2003).

Once a court has determined the probative value and the danger of unfair prejudice of the evidence, the court must balance the two. State v. Dial, 405 S.C. 247, 260, 746 S.E.2d 495, 502 (Ct. App. 2013). When juxtaposing the prejudicial effect against the probative value, the determination

must be based on the entire record and will turn on the facts of each case. State v. Collins, 409 S.C. 524, 534, 763 S.E.2d 22, 27-28 (2014) (citing State v. Lyles, 379 S.C. 328, 338, 665 S.E.2d 201, 206 (Ct. App. 2008)). Only after balancing the probative value and the danger of unfair prejudice may the court determine if the danger of unfair prejudice outweighs the probative value of the proffered evidence as required by Rule 403, SCRE.

In the indictment, the state alleged Appellant “did in Chester County on or about or between October 31, 2017, cause the death of [Minor] age two years, a child under the age of eleven, while committing child abuse or neglect upon the child, and the child’s death occurred under circumstances manifesting the defendant’s extreme indifference to human life.” R. 478 – 479. According to statutory law, “[a] person is guilty of homicide by child abuse if the person (1) causes the death of a child under the age of eleven while committing child abuse or neglect, and the death occurs under circumstances manifesting an extreme indifference to human life.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-85(A)(1).

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