RECEIVED

Mar 23 2021

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHESTER COUNTY
Court of General Sessions
The Honorable Brian M. Gibbons, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-001551

THE STATE,RESPONDENT,

v.

DARRYL QUAN DAMOND WILSON,APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

WILLIAM F. SCHUMACHER, IV
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3713

RANDY E. NEWMAN, JR.
Solicitor, Sixth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 607
Lancaster, SC 29721-0607
(803) 377-1141

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The trial judge properly allowed the State to admit two recordings of Appellant’s phone calls from jail because they were, along with other submitted evidence, were probative of Appellant’s extreme indifference towards Victim.

Appellant argues the trial judge erred in admitting Recordings 1 and 2 because the State submitted the calls simply because the demonstrated his lack of remorse for Victim’s death. The State disagrees with this allegation of error. Notably, the issue as argued on appeal is not preserved for review because it was not raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge as Appellant argues it on appeal. Still, even if preserved, Appellant’s argument lacks merit. The Recordings were submitted, along with various other evidence, to demonstrate Appellant’s extreme indifference—a statutory element of the offense for which he was charged—towards Victim. Additionally, while the Recordings were properly admitted for this purpose, there were but two minor pieces of evidence demonstrating Appellant’s criminal behavior. Even if the admission of the Recordings was improper, the error in doing so was harmless given the remainder of the evidence presented by the State.

Issue Preservation

Pursuant to our issue preservation requirements in South Carolina, an issue must also be raised in a sufficiently specific manner to call attention to the exact error to the trial court. State v. Johnson, 363 S.C. 53, 58, 609 S.E.2d 520, 523 (2005); see State v. Prioleau, 345 S.C. 404, 411, 548 S.E.2d 213, 216 (2001) (“[A]n objection should be sufficiently specific to bring into focus the precise nature of the alleged error so it can be reasonably understood by the trial judge.” (emphasis added)). Importantly, “[a] party need not use the exact name of a legal doctrine in order to preserve it[.]” State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 694 (2003). However, in order for an issue to be preserved for review, “it must be clear that the

argument has been presented on that ground.” Id. Significantly, “[w]here an objection and the ground therefore is not stated in the record, there is no basis for appellate review.” State v. Morris, 307 S.C. 480, 485, 415 S.E.2d 819, 823 (Ct. App. 1991); see State v. Fleming, 254 S.C. 415, 421, 175 S.E.2d 624, 627 (1970) (“It is well settled that an issue which has not been presented to or passed upon by the trial judge will not be considered on appeal.”). “

As an initial matter, the State notes Appellant’s issue on appeal is rife with preservation problems. At trial, trial counsel’s sole objection to either recording were that he, in general, did not see how either one was relevant to Appellant’s case. These arguments, although obviously referencing Rule 401, SCRE, were not supported with citation to any authority or specific argument. Without a specific objection, the trial judge was not provided a sufficient reason to rule in Appellant’s favor. See Fleming, 254 S.C. at 421, 175 S.E.2d at 627. Even worse for Appellant, trial counsel made no reference to the probative value or prejudicial effect of the recordings at trial, rendering present discussion of them improper. See id.; see also State v. Patterson, 324 S.C. 5, 17, 482 S.E.2d 760, 765–66 (1997) (stating a general objection which does not specify the particular ground on which it is based is insufficient to preserve an issue for appellate review). Accordingly, this Court should reject Appellant’s arguments on preservation grounds.

Analysis

A person is guilty of homicide by child abuse if (1) the person causes the death of a child while committing child abuse or neglect; and (2) the death occurs “under circumstances manifesting an extreme indifference to human life.” S.C. Code Ann. §16-3-85(A)(1). “Child abuse or neglect” is defined under the homicide by child abuse statute as “an act or omission by

any person which causes harm to the child’s physical health or welfare[.]” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-85(B)(1).

“To prove a defendant guilty of homicide by child abuse, the State must demonstrate ‘the death occur[red] under circumstances manifesting an extreme indifference to human life.’” State v. Phillips, 411 S.C. 124, 767 S.E.2d 444 (Ct. App. 2014) (quoting section 16-3-85). “Extreme indifference is in the nature of a culpable mental state and therefore is akin to intent.” State v. Jarrell, 350 S.C. 90, 98, 564 S.E.2d 362, 367 (Ct. App. 2002) (citation, ellipses, and internal quotation marks omitted). “In this state, indifference in the context of criminal statutes has been compared to the conscious act of disregarding a risk which a person’s conduct has created, or a failure to exercise ordinary or due care.” Id. The meaning of extreme indifference to human life in the context of a homicide by child abuse case is consistent with recklessness and indifference in reckless homicide cases. State v. McKnight, 352 S.C. 635, 645, 576 S.E.2d 168, 173 (2003). Thus, extreme indifference to human life can similarly be equated to “‘a conscious failure to exercise due care or ordinary care or a conscious indifference to the rights and safety of others or a reckless disregard thereof.’” Id. (quoting State v. Tucker, 273 S.C. 736, 739, 259 S.E.2d 414, 415 (1979)). “As a general rule, any guilty act, conduct, or statements on the part of the accused are admissible as some evidence of consciousness of guilt.” State v. McDowell, 266 S.C. 508, 515, 224 S.E.2d 889, 892 (1976).

The State believes Appellant’s failure to raise the arguments mentioned in his brief to the trial judge was not due to any deficiency, but because he—at the trial stage—recognized admission of the recordings was entirely proper. As explained supra, Appellant was charged with the crime of homicide by child abuse, which requires the State to prove he acted “under circumstances manifesting an extreme indifference to human life.” See S.C. Code Ann. §16-3-

85(A)(1). South Carolina courts have regularly permitted evidence of a defendant's attitude towards a victim of homicide by child abuse because such information is relevant to the determination of whether a defendant acted with extreme indifference.

In State v. Holder, 382 S.C. 278, 676 S.E.2d 690 (2009), the named defendant sought reversal for her conviction for homicide by child abuse for the death of her son after her coworker testified at trial that defendant "began dressing differently and talked less about her child once her relationship began with [her codefendant]." Id. at 287, 676 S.E.2d at 695. Notably, the witness had known Holder for years, well before the latter began dating codefendant. Id. When the witness noticed bruises along the side of Holder's son's face, the witness confronted Holder about the markings but Holder claimed the son had been pushed into a swimming pool by a dog. Id. During this visit, the son seemed more upset than usual, and at one point Holder told the son, "You better behave or I'm going to take you home to [codefendant]." Id. The child responded by falling to the floor and screaming. Id. When asked to generally describe Holder during that period, the witness stated:

When she first started working there, she talked more about [her son] and—it's hard to explain. She was a little more soft-spoken. She dressed a little more conservatively. And over a period of weeks, it started to change. Especially now looking back at the change of her dress. She started dressing a little different.

Id. at 287–88, 676 S.E.2d at 695–96. The defense objected, claiming the last statements were improper character evidence under Rule 404, SCRE. Id. at 288, 676 S.E.2d at 696. The trial court overruled the objection, and the witness concluded her testimony by noting that by that period of time, Holder did not talk as much about the son, and started talking about "[codefendant], [codefendant], [codefendant]" basically "all the time." Id. This stood out to witness because she, Holder, and their coworkers were all moms who traditionally focused their

conversations on their children. Id. The witness later testified, without objection, that Holder had cut off contact with her parents during this same time period. Id.

The Supreme Court of South Carolina found the statements were not inadmissible character evidence nor were they improper propensity evidence. Id. at 289, 676 S.E.2d at 696. Rather, they were submitted to demonstrate Holder's extreme indifference to her son by showing "Holder's strong desire to please [codefendant] instead of protecting the welfare of her child and to establish an element of the offense, that she manifested an extreme indifference to the well-being of her son." Id. Also of note, the court found the impact of the "brief evidence" was minimal given the record as a whole demonstrated Holder's guilt and the disputed evidence was cumulative to similar evidence admitted without objection Id.

Similarly, in State v. Palmer, 408 S.C. 218, 758 S.E.2d 195 (Ct. App. 2014) *aff'd in part, rev'd in part* 413 S.C. 410, 776 S.E.2d 558 (2015), Palmer and his codefendant, Gorman, were on trial for charges including homicide by child abuse for the death of the Gorman's seventeen-month old grandson. The Court of Appeals found evidence that Gorman "was often frustrated and annoyed with the [victim]'s behavior" and her comments that she disliked the child were appropriate for trial. Palmer, 408 S.C. 230–31, 758 S.E.2d at 202. This Court noted the evidence, by itself, was "insufficient" to prove guilt, but properly "considered in combination with all the evidence" to answer the question of "why" the child was killed. Id. The Supreme Court granted certiorari and reversed Palmer's conviction for homicide by child abuse, finding there was not sufficient evidence for the charge to survive the directed verdict motion at trial. Palmer, 413 S.C. at 420, 776 S.E.2d at 563. However, the court affirmed Gorman's, noting there was substantial circumstantial evidence of her guilt, including "numerous witnesses testified to her unusual affect and statements following the child's injury." Id.

In State v. Thompson, 420 S.C. 192, 802 S.E.2d 623 (Ct. App. 2017), the named defendant and her boyfriend, Guinyard, were convicted of homicide by child abuse and unlawful conduct toward a child for their roles in the death of their son. On appeal, they claimed the trial court erred in denying their respective motions for directed verdicts on their charges. Id. at 196, 802 S.E.2d at 625. The evidence against them largely fell into three categories: the substantial amount of external and internal injuries found on the son's corpse, including abrasions, scars, a subdural hemorrhage, two rib fractures, and a healing fracture to the son's upper left arm; physical abuse witnessed by family and friends in the fifteen-month period leading up his death; and various comments made by Thompson during that same time frame. Id. at 198–203, 802 S.E.2d at 625–28. Thompson's statements expressed a general disregard for the child and included: (1) Thompson, speaking about son, claiming she did not care "if the retarded bastard died" and if DSS did not take custody of the child, "she was going to kill him and bury him so DSS would not take her other baby"; (2) another occasion on which Thompson told her sister she wanted her son "to go back to DSS so they could give him a beating and a killing and a raping"; numerous complaints about the child such as his issues with wetting and soiling himself and that his speech "was not as good as his two-year-old sibling." Id. at 200–01, 802 S.E.2d at 626–27.

This Court found the trial court did not err in denying the defendants' directed verdict motion because the evidence, viewed in the light most favorable to the State, supported the charged offenses; the evidence showed the child had an "obvious" need for medical treatment in the last several weeks of his life, the defendants caused his death, and the death occurred under circumstances manifesting the defendants' extreme indifference to human life. Id. at 206–07, 802 S.E.2d at 630. The Court specifically noted that, "given the severity of [the child]'s symptoms and the history of [the defendant]s' animosity toward [him], a juror could reasonably

infer that [the defendant]s’ failure to seek medical treatment for [the child] was more than mere neglect but rather a deliberate choice” Id. at 207, 802 S.E.2d at 630. The Court noted the evidence **also** supported the charges based on the evidence that defendants allowed or inflicted the injuries on the child. Id. at 208, 802 S.E.2d at 631.

Appellant’s argument that the Recordings are not relevant to any issue in the case is incorrect. While the parties agreed Victim died as a result of blunt force trauma, the defense sought to persuade the jury that Victim’s injuries were either accidental or, if intentional, inflicted by someone prior to Victim being placed in Appellant’s care on October 28, 2017. It was the State’s burden to prove, beyond a reasonable doubt, that Appellant was the person responsible for Victim’s death. Pursuant to that burden, the State also had to prove Appellant acted with extreme indifference to Victim’s well-being. In general, “any guilty act, conduct, or statements on the part of the accused are admissible as some evidence of consciousness of guilt.” McDowell, 266 S.C. at 515, 224 S.E.2d at 892. Further, as demonstrated in Holder, Palmer, and Thompson, evidence of a defendant’s attitude towards a victim of homicide by child abuse may be relevant for determining why the defendant acted (or failed to act) in a particular way which ultimately led to a child’s death. See Holder, 382 S.C. at 289, 676 S.E.2d at 696; Thompson, 420 S.C. at 207, 802 S.E.2d at 630; and Palmer, 408 S.C. at 230–31, 758 S.E.2d at 202.

In the instant case, Recordings 1 and 2 were submitted in conjunction with other recordings, messages, and testimony which demonstrated Appellant’s extreme indifference towards Victim. Recordings 1 and 2 only contained the evidence that Appellant made statements expressing his regret at being Victim’s father which was combined with the remainder of the State’s evidence to show Appellant’s extreme indifference. Other recordings submitted the State included statements by Appellant that he just wanted the investigation over so he could get his

phone back; Appellant telling Foote, to “whoop” her daughter; and a phone conversation in which Appellant lies about Victim’s cause of death and blaming the situation on a burst appendix. The message submitted by the State involved Appellant, again, advocating for Foote to “whoop” her daughter; Appellant lying about Victim choking to death; and Appellant lying about the injury to Victim’s nose being present when she was dropped off with him. These various messages and recordings only supported the testimonies of the trial witnesses. Notably, Foote testified that Appellant blamed Victim’s green vomit on green-colored Kool-Aid, but SLED Agent Baird found no such thing in the home. Further, although Foote showed grave concern for Victim’s health on Halloween night, Appellant refused to seek medical attention for her. Combined, this is relevant, probative evidence of Appellant’s extreme indifference because it demonstrates Appellant’s “conscious failure to exercise due care or ordinary care or a conscious indifference to the rights and safety of others or a reckless disregard thereof.” See Tucker, 273 S.C. at 739, 259 S.E.2d at 415.

Appellant’s argument that references to his lack of remorse improperly violated his constitutional rights is misguided. None of the cases cited by Appellant in support of this position actually do so; the cases in question all involve the State or witnesses commenting on a defendant’s post-arrest silence or decision to plead “not guilty.” See, e.g., State v. Reid, 324 S.C. 74, 78, 476 S.E.2d 695, 696 (1996) (“It is a violation of due process for a State to permit comment on a defendant’s post-arrest silence since the giving of Miranda warnings might induce silence by implicitly assuring a defendant his silence will not be used against him.”); State v. Sloan, 278 S.C. 435, 440, 298 S.E.2d 92, 95 (1982) (“A defendant’s exercise of his right to plead not guilty is never a permissible basis upon which to impose the death penalty; this is particularly true in a capital case in this state, where a defendant *must* plead not guilty to have his sentence

determined by a jury). Further, the statements in Recordings 1 and 2 were willingly made by Appellant and he waived any constitutional complaints to the use of the recordings at the beginning of each call.

Near the conclusion of Appellant's brief, he impugns the character of the solicitor who prosecuted the case. Attacking her, he claims:

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